
Agenda 
Linn-Benton Loop Board Meeting 
Virtual Meeting 

Date: Tuesday, June 06, 2023 
Time: 3:00 – 4:30 pm  
Location: Virtual Meeting 

Via Microsoft Teams: CLICK HERE 
Meeting ID: 226 927 085 180 
Passcode: N2iByR  
Phone: +1-872-242-8088; 575 547 948# 

Contact: Nick Meltzer, Transportation Program Manager, nmeltzer@ocwcog.org 

1. 3:00 Call to Order and Agenda Review Chair, 
Commissioner 

Pat Malone 

2. 3:05 Public Comment Chair 

3. 3:10 Minutes of February 28, 2023 (Attachment A)

Action Requested: Approval of meeting minutes. 

Chair 

4. 3:15 Budget Reports (Attachments B1-B4)
• Quarterly budget (B1)
• Year to date budget (B2)
• Drawdown Reports (5307 and STIF) (B3-B4)

Action Requested: Information only. 

Barry Hoffman 

5. 3:30 FY2023-25 Budget Discussion (Attachment C)
Discussion on planning for FY2023-25 biennium and funding 
levels from partners. Fare update. 

Action Requested: Discussion 

All 

6. 3:45 Ridership Reports (virtual)
Preview of new ridership dashboard 

Action Requested: Discussion 

Nick 
Meltzer/Mary 

Bach-Jackson 

8. 4:00 Updates and Other Business
• Mobility Hub Update
• Summer passenger counts

All 

9. 4:30 Adjournment
• Next meeting August 29, 2023

Chair 

1

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_Yjg5ZjlhZmYtN2RjYi00ZmJmLWE1MWEtZWEyNzU4NWYxYTQ5%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%22cf8f0bab-b5d5-47ad-9a03-39ec05c04fbc%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%224e297dfb-957b-48f2-8e72-8881c7f18bc0%22%7d
tel:+18722428088,,575547948


ATTENDENCE (FOR QUORUM PURPOSES) 

Board Member Alternate Jurisdiction Attendance 

Sheldon Flom Linn Benton Community 
College 

Pat Malone Corvallis Area Metropolitan 
Planning Organization 

Roger Nyquist Albany Area Metropolitan 
Planning Organization 

Hal Brauner At-Large Member (non-
voting position) 

Quorum: Board business may be conducted provided a quorum of members, or their 
Alternates, are in attendance. A quorum consists of a majority (2) of the Board. Board members 
may participate telephonically or by other means of electronic communication, provided the 
meeting is called to order at a public noticed meeting place where the public can attend, hear, 
understand and/or read the comments of the members participating by telephonic or electronic 
means and the members so participating can fully hear, understand, and/or read the comments 
of the other members participating in the meeting.  

- Loop Board Bylaws, Section 6: Meetings, Subsection c: Quorum

2



LINN-BENTON Loop Governing Board 
Hybrid Meeting 

Tuesday, February 28, 2023 
3:00 pm – 5:00 pm 

DRAFT MINUTES 

Board Member Attendance Jurisdiction 

Sheldon Flom 
Yes Linn Benton Community 

College 

Pat Malone 
Yes Corvallis Area Metropolitan 

Planning Organization 

Roger Nyquist 
No Albany Area Metropolitan 

Planning Organization 

Hal Brauner 
Yes At-Large Member (non-voting 

position) 

Quorum: Official action may be taken by the Linn-Benton Loop TAC when a quorum is present. A quorum shall exist 
when the majority of appointed voting members are present. A majority is half plus one of the members appointed. If a 
member is unable to participate in a meeting, that member may designate an alternate to participate in his/her place. The 
alternate should declare their status at the start of the meeting. - Loop Technical Advisory Committee Bylaws, Section 6: 
Meetings, Subsection f: Quorum 

Guests: Marilyn Smith, Brad Dillingham, Jennifer Boardman, Ken Bronson, Barry Hoffman, Tiffany Plemmons, and 
Andrew Knoll 
Staff: Transportation Program Manager Nick Meltzer, Operations Supervisor Emma Chavez Sosa, and CED 
Administrative Assistant Ashlyn Muzechenko 

3

Attachment A



TOPIC DISCUSSION DECISION / 
CONCLUSION 

1. Call to Order and Chair
Elections

Staff Nick Meltzer opened Chair elections for the Loop Governing Board 
Members.  

Commissioner Pat Malone will continue as Chair and Sheldon Flom was 
nominated for the Vice Chair position.  

As decided by consensus, Pat Malone will continue as the Loop 
Governing Board Chair and Sheldon Flom is the newly elected Loop 
Board Vice Chair.  

The Chair Commissioner 
Pat Malone called the 
meeting to order at 3:04 
pm. 

As decided by consensus, 
Pat Malone will continue 
as the Loop Governing 
Board Chair and Sheldon 
Flom is the newly elected 
Loop Board Vice Chair. 

2. Public Comment There were no members of the public who wished to provide public 
comments.  

There were no public 
comments.  

3. Minutes of November
29, 2022 (Attachment
A)

Action: Approval of 
Minutes 

Vice- Chair Sheldon Flom moved to approve The November 29, 2022; 
minutes as presented. The motion carried and the minutes were 
approved by consensus. 

The November 29, 2022, 
minutes were approved by 
consensus.  

4. FY2023 -2025 Budget
Discussion

Action: Discussion 

Meltzer introduced the bi-annual budget discussion as the Loop budget 
is within the city of Albany’s budget discussion.  

Barry Hoffman noted that the TAC meeting was early in the budget cycle 
so there wasn’t very much to share with everyone. Hoffman shared that 
OSU and LBCC had the amounts for their partnership amounts for 2023-
2024 OSU/LBCC partnership requests, it is $135,900 and the 2024-2025 
is $140,000, which is essentially rising at a 3% pace. The partnerships 
eventually may not meet the needs of the program.  

Hoffman shared that with the amounts that will be entered for the next 
biennium will be a balanced budget even with the Loop expansion. 

4



Hoffman noted that with amounts rising so greatly, the costs may start to 
outpace the revenues.  

Hoffman added that in this biennium, there will be a need to draw down 
or pledge the 5307 funds to go to operation funds again instead of 
putting it all away for capital projects.  

Hoffman noted that there are a few projects that already have capital 
funds pledged to the design phases of the LBCC hub, as well as to the 
transit operations facility design. Both of which are undergoing.  

Chair Commissioner Malone asked about a 3% increase for OSU and 
LBCC and what the right number is for combating inflation.  

Hoffman answered, stating that the concern would be if the budgets 
were out of balance, but it is uncertain of what the economy will do over 
the next few years. Additionally, the STIF program is uncertain over the 
next biennium as well.  

Vice-Chair Flom asked if Barry is comfortable with the 3% because of 
the reserve funds and the state funds from Linn County and Benton 
County.  

Hoffman confirmed that with the reserves, the 3% from the colleges, and 
the state funds from Linn and Benton County, match can be achieved 
and this biennium the budget will balance out.  

Meltzer noted that at the next Loop meeting there will be a more detailed 
budget with contributions and more detailed expenditures.  

Hoffman stated that during the May Board meeting, the budget could be 
shared.  

Meltzer noted that there could also be a Loop TAC and Board Meeting 
held in April if it works better for the budget.  

5



 Chair Malone asked if the information could be presented near the first 
part of April.  

Hoffman noted that can be done, and the first part of April is a for sure 
budget that can be presented and a deadline that can be met.  

5. Budget and Ridership
Reports (Attachments
B1-B4, and C)

Action: Information 
Only  

Hoffman shared the quarterly reports for the budget and Ridership 
numbers.  

Hoffman noted that there was STIF Revenue brought in as 
reimbursement for the quarter. Hoffman added $33,000 was spent on 
vehicle maintenance which is unusually high. Additionally, fuel for the 
quarter was also high at $32,000.  

Hoffman shared the year-to-date report that shared the revenues and 
expenditures for the year to date.  

Vice-Chair Flom asked for clarification about the charges for the services 
of Loop. 

Hoffman noted that its revenue from the STIP is reimbursement-based. 
It is the expenses from the previous quarter but were received in this 
quarter.  

Hoffman added that for period 1 to period 6, the reimbursement shows 
up again, and is the same money being brought into the actual Loop 
operational budget. Hoffman shared that the STIP funds were put into 
their own budget as per state requests.  

Hoffman shared attachment C, which shows the old fund drawdowns for 
2018-2019. Hoffman added that for 2021 is when the funds switched 
over to only budgeting capital funds, and there were projects pledged to 
that money that haven’t been started yet.  

Hoffman shared the pledged amounts from Benton County and Linn 
County that were drawn down equally from each biennium as of January 

6



2023, and there are still 6 months to go. The year-end projections are 
basically right on now as well.  

Tim Bates asked about using the STIF fund first, as unlike 5307 federal 
which have 5 years, the STIF funds have to be used before the biennium 
or they will go back into the pot.  

Hoffman agreed and noted that STIF funds can pay for expenses that 
aren’t eligible for 5307 funds. Hoffman added that Jeff Babbitt has been 
very helpful to guide using the right funds for the right projects and 
operations.  

Chair Malone asked how long they have to use the funds before they 
expire.  

Hoffman confirmed that the funds have until the end of the current 
biennium.  

Hoffman shared the ridership report showing them route by route. 
Hoffman noted that in 2022-2023 the numbers have climbed up and 
above the COVID numbers and almost back to regular ridership levels. 

Hoffman shared all of the routes of the Loop buses, and what their 
ridership levels were. Hoffman added that the levels are encouraging. 

Vice-Chair Flom asked if the Loop bus would still run if the campuses 
were closed.  

Hoffman confirmed that in theory the buses will still run to the schools if 
the campuses are closed or on delay unless the roads are really bad, or 
if the situation is too risky.  

Hoffman shared with the board members that there are two connectors 
between the two colleges, one in the morning between the colleges, and 
the other in the evening between the two. Hoffman also noted that 
October is the busiest month for transit between the two colleges.  

7



Andrew Koll noted that he has tried the system, and asked about 
specific data on the runs for the Loop schedule.  

Hoffman noted that there is hourly service data, which is what the 
reports are derived from. Hoffman noted that ridership is noted by hour, 
and the peak hours are 7am or 8am and then again at 4pm for the 
peaks.  

Hoffman noted that at the next meeting the hourly data can be shared 
with the members that were interested in the refinements.  
Pat Malone asked about transit drivers for the Loop.  

Chair Malone asked about Barry’s success in keeping drivers well 
enough to be considered close to fully staffed.  

Hoffman noted that the Loop is currently trying to hire more drivers for 
the ATS service expansion, however the issues are the lack of qualified 
candidates, or interest in driving itself. Hoffman added that there are 
advertisements out for substitute drivers, that are always present, there 
are also 4 full time positions with ATS (Albany Transit System) for transit 
driving available.  

Hoffman noted that the current driver staff are stable and seem to be 
happy so the loop service and ATS (Albany Transit System) service for 
the current schedule are able to be provided for. Hoffman added that the 
drivers are happy, because the group is just a collection of great people 
as staff.  

Chair Malone noted that it is essential to keep the workers happy so that 
drivers are not lost to competitors.  

6. Summer Service Levels

Action: Information Only 

Hoffman shared with the Loop Board Members the summer service 
levels for the Loop and the possible reduction of hours for the connector 
routes. Hoffman noted that the connector routes on Hwy 34 were not 
originally designed for summer seasons; however last year the summer 
season was still run with the connectors.  

8



 
Hoffman added that not running the summer service could allow for 
employee reprieves, however the disadvantages would be reducing 
service. Hoffman shared that there are a lot of service hours but not a lot 
of ridership because of the low usage of the connectors during the 
summer season.  
 
Hoffman shared that at the TAC the fuel and maintenance would be 
saves, and a few drivers might be able to take off normal time off, but 
laying people off would not be wise. Hoffman noted that the TAC 
suggested running this summer and evaluate the ridership per service 
hours were, and discuss and plan for the next summer of the biennium.  
 
Hoffman shared that, if necessary, the connector routes would be the 
ones to cancel as they are the easiest to replace. Barry Hoffman also 
added that another option would be to only run 1 of the connectors such 
as the AM or the PM route instead of both.  
 
Hal Brauner noted he agreed with the TAC to look into what the summer 
will show data wise.  
 
Ken Bronson added that with the express running to LBCC, if it was 
summer the express didn’t run though for the savings which is how it 
was run for the last 7 years.  
 
Meltzer agreed and also shared the idea of hourly service instead of half 
hour.  
 
Brauner suggested offering the full service for this next summer to see 
how it goes, and then evaluate from there for the next year. As there are 
some people who do rely on the service for transportation.  
 
Vice- Chair Flom asked why the service was run last year during the 
summer.  
 

9



Hoffman noted that the staff needed full time, and the system was so 
new that it seemed like the right thing to do during last summer’s time. 
Hoffman added however the ridership was down too only 1200 
passengers during the summer months.  

Hoffman shared that if both connectors went away, then they would be 
forced to use the uniter. Hoffman also noted that during the TAC taking 
away services wouldn’t necessarily be wise.  

Vice-Chair Flom noted that watching costs, and looking at this for time to 
do maintenance could also be considered. Flom added that looking at 
numbers and deciding for the future would be the best course of action.   

Chair Malone noted that it would be nice to know what other options for 
the people using the service has. Malone added that using a survey to 
determine how critical the service is to their lives to add to the 
determining data would be a good idea.  

Hoffman noted that the East West connection from East Linn County to 
work and services in Corvallis, and then getting back from there, would 
account for some of the connector rides from the last year.  

Chair Malone noted that it would be helpful to get more information on 
how vital the service is, and the effects of dialing it back.  

Bronson noted that in the East Linn County, rather than running a Class 
B bus, but instead running a Class D or a van instead to provide service, 
but use the asset that more fits the situation.  Bronson added that then 
the big-ticket item (the larger bus) could be serviced, while employees 
still received their scheduled hours.  

Chair Malone added to push for a survey so results can be looked into, 
and the Loop can move forward to make an informed decision.  

7. Updates and Other
Business
• Mobility Hub Update

Meltzer shared the Mobility Hub update with the Loop Members that the 
STIF application is working its way through the process with ODOT. 

10



Meltzer noted that Jennifer Boardman also suggested the project as a 
congressional earmark for the construction grant.  

Chair Malone asked if the mobility hubs are being treated as a package. 

Meltzer noted that yes, they are being treated as one project and it is 
anticipated to use multiple funding sources to finish up the design stage. 
Staff Meltzer added that construction for the Mobility Hubs is aimed for 
2024.  

Bates asked about the agreement with the Benton County STIP. 

Meltzer noted that Benton County had enough reserves to fully fund the 
OSU hub using the formula funding, which will be moving forward this 
summer and next fall. Meltzer shared that they are hoping to find 
congressional funding for both hubs, but for sure the OSU campus hub 
will be funded by Benton County and hopefully with the addition of STIF 
funding too.  

Chair Malone noted that this asset will help improve ridership as well 
through the whole system.  

Hoffman shared that the Loop did apply for a bus from the STIF 
Discretionary funds, and the match would come from Benton County and 
Linn County if the STIF grant is awarded. The new bus will replace a 
2010 model that needs being replaced. Hoffman shared that STIF D will 
be decided for projects in March for the upcoming cycle.  

8. Adjournment The next Loop Governing Board meeting is scheduled for May 30, 2023. Meeting adjourned at 4:18 
pm by Chair Commissioner 
Pat Malone 

11



12

Attachment B1



13



14



15

Attachment B2



16



17



Linn-Benton Loop FTA Section 5307 Grant Funds Remaining
(Last Updated 4/27/23)

Grant Year Project Match Ratio Remaining Project Funds  FTA Match Required Local Match Required

18-19 FTA 5307 - Operations 50:50 933,866 466,933 466,933 as of 2/1/22
Drawdown - 2/2/22 766,308 (83,779) (83,779) 
Drawdown - 3/23/22 614,484 (75,912) (75,912) 
Drawdown - 5/20/22 555,044 (29,720) (29,720) 
Drawdown - 7/7/22 491,692 (31,676) (31,676) 
Drawdown - 7/26/22 361,858 (64,917) (64,917) 
Drawdown - 10/20/22 184,146 (88,856) (88,856) 
Drawdown - 1/30/23 - (92,073) (92,073) 
SUBTOTAL - - - 

19-20 FTA 5307 - Operations 50:50 587,000 293,500 293,500 as of 2/1/22
Drawdown - 4/27/23 411,606 (87,697) (87,697) 

FTA 5307 - Preventive Maintenance 80:20 60,875 48,700 12,175 as of 2/1/22
Drawdown - 1/30/23 35,432 (20,354) (5,089) 
Drawdown - 4/27/23 470 (27,970) (6,992) 

SUBTOTAL 412,076 206,179 205,897 

20-21 FTA 5307 - Capital Project - TBD* 80:20 449,138 359,310 89,828 as of 2/1/22

SUBTOTAL 449,138 359,310 89,828 

21-22 FTA 5307 - Capital Project - TBD* 80:20 471,600 377,280 94,320 as of 7/1/22

SUBTOTAL 471,600 377,280 94,320 

GRAND TOTAL 1,332,814     942,769    390,045    

*Funds have been awarded, but the Linn-Benton Loop has not yet obligated the funds.  These funds
will be obligated when the Loop has determined the projects to assign the funding too.

18

Attachment B3



Linn-Benton Loop STIF Funds Remaining
(Last Updated 4/27/23)

Fiscal Year Project Remaining Project Funds

21-22/22-23 STIF - Benton County $675,000
Drawdown 11/10/21 ($14,450)
Drawdown 2/8/22 ($37,475)
Drawdown 4/25/22 ($90,105)
Drawdown 7/26/22 ($83,880)
Drawdown 10/24/22 ($78,906)
Drawdown 1/27/23 ($89,809)
Drawdown 4/26/23 ($102,144)

SUBTOTAL $178,231

21-22/22-23 STIF - Linn County $675,000
Drawdown 12/21/21 ($5,075)
Drawdown 2/8/22 ($28,100)
Drawdown 4/25/22 ($108,855)
Drawdown 7/26/22 ($83,880)
Drawdown 10/24/22 ($78,906)
Drawdown 1/27/23 ($89,809)
Drawdown 4/26/23 ($102,144)

SUBTOTAL $178,231

GRAND TOTAL $356,462

19

Attachment B4



20

Attachment C



21



22



23


	23.06.06  Loop Board Agenda
	Attachment A_23-02-28 Loop Board DRAFT Minutes
	Attachment B1
	Attachment C1_Q3 22-23 Loop 4-27-23
	Q3 22-23 - Loop STIF 4-27-23

	Attachment B2
	Attachment C2_YTD 22-23 - Loop 4-27-23
	YTD 22-23 - Loop STIF 4-27-23

	Attachment B3_5307 Grant Funds Remaining - LB Loop
	FTA 5307

	Attachment B4_STIF Funds Remaining - LB Loop
	STIF - LOOP

	Attachment C_Draft Loop Budget and Loop Stif budget



